CHAPTER THREE

Genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics and big data analysis in the discovery of new diagnostic markers and targets for therapy development

Dong Ik Park^{a,b,*}

^aDanish Research Institute of Translational Neuroscience (DANDRITE)-Nordic EMBL Partnership for Molecular Medicine, Department of Biomedicine, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark ^bThe Danish National Research Foundation Center, PROMEMO, Department of Biomedicine, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark *Corresponding author: e-mail address: park@biomed.au.dk

Contents

1.	Introduction		62
2.	Omics and big data studies of autism spectrum disorder		63
	2.1	Immune and inflammation pathways	63
	2.2	Synapse and neurodevelopment	66
	2.3	Mitochondrial energy metabolism	71
	2.4	Lipid transport and metabolism	73
	2.5	Gut microbiome	75
	2.6	Ubiquitin-proteasome system	77
	2.7	Epigenetic regulation	77
	2.8	Big data analysis with machine learning approach	78
3.	Conclusions and future directions in the biomarker and therapy discovery based		
	on -	omics and big data analysis	79
Со	Conflict of interest		
Ref	References		

Abstract

Highly complex endophenotypes and underlying molecular mechanisms have prevented effective diagnosis and treatment of autism spectrum disorder. Despite extensive studies to identify relevant biosignatures, no biomarker and therapeutic targets are available in the current clinical practice. While our current knowledge is still largely incomplete, -omics technology and machine learning-based big data analysis have provided novel insights on the etiology of autism spectrum disorders, elucidating systemic impairments that can be translated into biomarker and therapy target

61

candidates. However, more integrated and sophisticated approaches are vital to realize molecular stratification and individualized treatment strategy. Ultimately, systemic approaches based on -omics and big data analysis will significantly contribute to more effective biomarker and therapy development for autism spectrum disorder.

1. Introduction

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder with a wide range of conditions characterized by repetitive behaviors, intellectual disability, and deficits in social interaction, communication and language skills. ASD has a high rate of comorbidity with other psychiatric conditions including depression and anxiety.^{1,2} Despite its low life prevalence, the disease is highly heritable and estimated to have a median prevalence of 62 in 10,000 worldwide.³

While human genetic studies found that a large number of genes are associated with ASD, no major gene which accounts for more than 1% of the cases was found⁴ indicating that ASD is not a single disorder with single cause.^{5,6} In fact, ASD includes several diseases previously categorized as separate disorders including autistic disorder, Asperger syndrome (AS) and pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS). In this regard, identifying molecular mechanisms and diagnosis/treatment targets for ASD has been challenging due to the highly heterogenous genetic and symptomatic architecture.

Omics technology has been a powerful tool to identify biomarkers and pathways which could explain the etiology of the psychiatric disorders. With the help of -omics technology, risk genes and proteins involved in neuronal calcium signaling (CACNA1E, CACNA2D1 and CAMK2 alpha), dopaminergic neurotransmission (DRD2), glutamatergic neurotransmission (GRIA1, GRIA2, GRIK5, GRIN2B and GRM5), presynaptic vesicle trafficking (PCLO and STXBP1) and proinflammatory cytokine response (IFN gamma, CCL4 and CXCL8) have been implicated for MDD.^{7–10} Diverse pathways such as angiogenesis and vascular system development (ANGPT2 and STAB1), insulin secretion (INS, IRS1 and IRS2) and endocannabinoid signaling (CNR1, DAGLA and DAGLB), as well as ion channel and transporters (SCN2A and SLC4A1), and synaptic component (RIMS1 and ANK3) were associated with BD.^{11,12} In SCZ, susceptible pathways involved in glutamatergic neurotransmission and synaptic plasticity (AMPAR, DPYSL2, DRD2, GNB1, GRIA1.

GRIN2A, GRM3, GLUL, NEFL, NEFM, SRR and VDAC), neuronal development (CTNNA1, GPM6A, SOX2OT), calcium channel (CACNA1C, CACNB2, CACNA11, CALM1, CALM2, CAMK2B, CAMK2D, CAMK2G, PMCA4, S100A6, S100A12), chromatin regulation (PU.1 and RPB2), and immune system and inflammation (alpha-defensins, interleukins and COX2) were identified.^{13–16} In addition, several biological pathways including calcium signaling (CAMKMT) and mitochondria-related functions (PREPL, ATP5H, MT-CO1, MT-ND2, MT-ND6, NDUFA2, NDUFS6, COX7A2 and COX7C) were found to be related to anxiety disorders.^{17,18}

Despite limitations by polygenicity, consequent variable disease symptoms and comorbidity with other psychiatric conditions, -omics studies have identified valuable ASD biomarker and therapy candidates with the help of data resources such as the Simon Foundation Autism Research Initiative (SFARI) (https://gene.sfari.org/), the autDB (http://autism.mindspec. org/autdb/Welcome.do) and the Autism Sequencing Consortium (ASC) (https://genome.emory.edu/ASC/). Recent advances in big data processing with computational algorithms further accelerate ASD research by helping data integration and interpretation. Here, we present the state-of-the-art progress made in -omics and big data studies, and discuss the future directions that will provide a breakthrough in the ASD biomarker and therapy discovery.

2. Omics and big data studies of autism spectrum disorder

2.1 Immune and inflammation pathways

Dysregulated immune system has been shown to highly contribute to the autism-related neurodevelopmental and behavioral abnormalities. Particularly, in utero immune system dysfunctions including maternal production of autoantibodies reactive to fetal brain, altered immunoglobulin levels and innate/adaptive immune cell response have been suggested to play a critical role in the etiology and pathology of ASD.¹⁹ To support this, numerous omics studies have provided evidence of immune dysfunction and autoimmunity in ASD.

Gandal et al. integrated genomics and transcriptomics data of brain tissues acquired from ASD and healthy individuals.²⁰ They found that gene, iso-form and non-coding RNA expression were significantly dysregulated in several brain regions of ASD patients. The differential expression profiles

enriched diverse immune-related pathways including inflammatory response, response to cytokine, innate immune response and cytokine production.

Gupta et al. analyzed transcriptome from postmortem human cortical tissues corresponding to Brodmann Area 10, Brodmann Area 19 (BA19) and Brodmann Area 44.²¹ The authors identified 12 co-expression modules using weight gene correlation network analysis. The module upregulated in autism patients significantly enriched activated microglial cells and multiple immune pathways.

Voineagu et al. used transcriptomics to analyze postmortem frontal and temporal cortex tissues from ASD and control cases.²² Genes involved in immune response, inflammation, astrocyte and activated microglia were upregulated in ASD cortices. These genes enriched a network module highly related to autism disease status. Since further genome wide association study (GWAS) enrichment analysis using published data did not enrich the immune and glial module, the authors suggested the non-genetic etiology for immune dysregulation in ASD.

Abnormal immune system in ASD may be also supported by comorbidity with cancer. By analyzing electronic health record, young ASD adults without intervention was shown to be at high risk for cancer development by midlife.²³ Genome-wide exome sequencing analysis showed that risk genes associated with immune system including ERBB2IP (involved in NF-kB signaling, proinflammatory cytokine secretion and TGF beta signaling) and PAX5 (involved in B cell development, leukemia, acute lymphoblastic leukemia and Wnt signaling pathway) are shared between ASD and cancer.²⁴ Fores-Martos et al. performed transcriptomics meta-analysis and found that a number of genes related to immune system (CDK2, CDKN1A, COL4A1, COL4A2, DDIT4, F2R, IL4R, ITGA5, MYC, NFKB1 and VEGFA) and oxidative stress (ATP5F1, ATP5J, ATP50, COX7B, CYC1, DLD, OGDHL, PFKM, NDUFAF1, NDUFB2, NDUFB6, NDUFV1 and UQCRFS1) were commonly regulated between ASD and several types of cancer cases.²⁵

Redox proteomics analysis identified altered protein oxidation profiles in blood plasma of autistic children.²⁶ The study found that two carbonylated plasma proteins, Ig kappa chain C and complement component C8 alpha chain, were significantly higher in autistic patients than healthy controls. Protein carbonylation is an irreversible post-translational modification induced by reactive oxygen species. Elevated levels of carbonylated immunoglobulin and complement in the study indicated activated oxidative stress and autoimmune response in ASD. Momeni et al. performed blood plasma proteome profiling in children with ASD.²⁷ They found that children with ASD had significantly higher levels of complement factor I, a protease for complement protein C3b. In line with this, C3f, a cleaved C3b, and its fragment C3f-des-arginine levels were found to be elevated in ASD children compared to healthy controls.²⁸

Urinary proteomics analysis revealed the differential excretion of kininogen-1 (KNG1), IgG1 heavy chain variable region and mannanbinding lectin serine protease-2 (MASP2) isoform-2 precursor between ASD and typically developing children.²⁹ KNG1 is a precursor protein for high-molecular-weight kininogen that is suggested to play a role in the inflammatory disorders by stimulating cytokine and chemokine secretion.³⁰ MASP2 activates complement system by cleavaging the components such as C2 and C4.³¹ Thus, the findings supported a crucial role of complement system in ASD.

Junaid et al. used two dimensional gel electrophoresis followed by proteomics identification and direct DNA sequencing of frontal lobe gray matter obtained from ASD patients and controls.³² The authors identified a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in glyoxalase I (GLO1) gene which causes Ala111Glu substitution in the protein sequence. GLO1 is mainly involved in methylglyoxal detoxification and oxidative stress. It was also shown to be associated with other psychiatric disorders such as anxiety disorders and depression.^{33–35} The study revealed that the GLO1 polymorphism results in reduced protein activity and methylglyoxal-derived advanced glycation end product accumulation which may affect ASD-susceptible pathways such as cell growth and differentiation.^{36,37}

Vogel Ciernia et al. used a mouse model of maternal allergic asthma (MAA) which induces ASD-like behaviors in offspring.³⁸ Using microglial fraction isolated from the offspring, they performed whole genome bisulfite sequencing and RNA sequencing to investigate DNA methylation and gene expression, respectively. Differentially methylated regions were associated with a number of cytokine and chemokine-mediated immune pathways and transcription factor binding motifs for early microglial development and immune activation including runt-related transcription factor 1 (RUNX1), PU.1, interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8), nuclear factor kappa-B (NF-kB) and MAF BZIP transcription factor B (MAFB). In addition, voltage-gated ion channel genes involved in neuronal connection regulation and microglia sensitivity to environmental signals were differentially expressed between MAA and control mice. The study suggested that maternal immune activation during pregnancy can contribute to ASD susceptibility by affecting fetal synaptic function and development.

2.2 Synapse and neurodevelopment

The ultimate culprit of ASD is more likely to be dysregulated neurodevelopmental process during gestation and early postnatal stage. The resultant functional and structural impairment at the synapse can cause cognitive and psychological dissonance.

Multiple synaptic features such as synaptic vesicle trafficking, neurotransmitter release, GABAergic transmission, and balance between excitatory and inhibitory synaptic transmission were found to be impaired in ASD.³⁹ Also, abnormalities in dendritic spine density/length, branching and morphology have been extensively associated with ASD.⁴⁰

De Rubeis et al. performed whole exome sequencing and integrated several datasets for de novo, inherited and case-control variations, and de novo missense variants.⁴¹ The study showed that genes affected in ASD are highly enriched for synaptic networks and chromatin remodeling. Several chromatin regulators have been shown to be essential for neural development processes including neural progenitor proliferation, migration, differentiation, synaptogenesis and synaptic pruning.⁴² Thus, the findings supported synaptic connectivity and plasticity alterations in ASD.

Callaghan et al. performed whole genome sequencing using whole blood of ASD probands.⁴³ The authors identified five de novo subject-specific damaging variants using computational prioritization based on predicted damage, population frequency, literature evidence and phenotype concordance. The variants included two novel de novo variants of SCN2A, a well-documented ASD gene.⁴⁴ SCN2A encodes voltage-gated sodium channel Nav1.2 which is expressed in the axon initial segment. SCN2A was shown to be important for action potential initiation and propagation.⁴⁵

Integrated genomics and transcriptomics analysis by Pain et al. identified 14 differentially expressed genes between ASD and control cases.⁴⁶ The authors found that the protein disulfide-isomerase A6 precursor (PDIA6) involved in protein folding was significantly downregulated in blood of ASD individuals. Gene sets including synaptic vesicle, presynapse, abnormal axon guidance and early cortical development represented nominal significance.

Sanders et al. analyzed de novo CNVs using the Simons Simplex Collection (SSC) cohort, the resource of the SFARI.⁴⁷ They integrated published de novo CNV data from the Autism Genome Project, and exome sequencing data from the SSC and the ASC. The integrated analysis confirmed previously reported de novo CNV loci, and identified 65 ASD genes.

Protein-protein interaction (PPI) analysis further revealed that the ASD genes enrich interconnected networks for synapse and chromatin regulation.

Grunwald et al. performed transcriptomics analysis using human induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) and -derived neurons generated from dermal fibroblasts of ASD and SCZ patients.⁴⁸ While iPSCs-derived neurons from three ASD patients shared a small number of dysregulated genes, transcriptome profiles were discriminative between the ASD and SCZ patients. The authors found that several genes linked to neural development such as SHH, PTCH1, GREM1, FEZF1 and FEZ-AS1 were significantly altered in the ASD iPSCs-derived neurons compared to those from healthy controls.

Single cell transcriptomics was used to analyze gene expression profiles from doublecortin expressing immature neurons in the dentate gyrus of mouse hippocampus.⁴⁹ While the study identified several subpopulations with distinct developmental stages, genes positively associated with neuronal maturation progression from stem-like to neuron-like cells were enriched for autism-related gene sets. This suggested that autism development may be attributed to gene and network dysregulation involved in neuronal maturation process during neurogenesis.

DeRosa et al. examined temporal transcriptome changes during cortical neuron differentiation of iPSCs derived from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of individuals with idiopathic ASD.⁵⁰ The authors compared transcriptome differences between two time points, early (DIV 35) and later (DIV 135) developmental stages. Differentially regulated genes in early stage exhibited expression changes in opposite direction in later stage, indicating dramatic gene expression changes during development. Several biological processes including synaptic activity, calcium signaling and neuronal cell migration were found to be dysregulated in the early stage of ASD iPSCs. Consistent with transcriptomics data, neuronal process migration, spontaneous neural spiking activity and calcium transients were found to be impaired.

Pinto et al. identified 36 pathogenic CNVs in ASD-affected individuals.⁵¹ The CNVs implicated genes linked to ASD-related neurodevelopmental disorders such as CHD2, HDAC4 and GDI1. Several synaptic processes including cell projection, neural development, axonogenesis and neuronal synapse were enriched by rare exonic gene deletions. Integrative analysis with de novo loss-of-function SNVs from four ASD exome sequencing studies further revealed the convergent pathway enrichment in neuronal development and axon guidance as well as microtubule associated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling and chromatin modification/transcriptional regulation.

Hu et al. performed quantitative trait analysis using ASD patient subgroups based on the Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (ADI-R) scores from five symptom categories including spoken language skills, non-verbal communication, play skills, social development and insistence on sameness.⁵² Quantitative trait locus associated with distinct ASD subgroups enriched several cellular pathways including neurogenesis, axogenesis and long-term synaptic potentiation. Network analysis using genes associated with intronic SNPs identified hubs such as HTR4 and GCH1, indicating a role of serotonergic system in the ASD etiology.

Bralten et al. performed GWAS to identify SNPs associated with autistic traits.⁵³ The authors measured autistic trait scores from Dutch general population using self-report questionnaire. They used GWAS data from Psychiatric Genomics Consortium autism group to find overlaps between genetic variants for ASD susceptibility and three autistic traits (childhood behavior, rigidity and attention to detail). A number of neurite outgrowth-related genes including MET showed a significant association with rigidity trait.

Using exome sequencing, O'Roak et al. identified recurrent de novo mutations of chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 8 (CHD8) from ASD probands.⁵⁴ CHD8 is a chromatin remodeling factor which regulates Wnt signaling pathways.^{55,56} CHD8 deficiency was shown to impair axon and dendrite growth, and delay cortical neuron migration.⁵⁷ In addition, CHD8 mutations have been strongly associated with clinical features including macrocephaly, speech delay and psychopathology.⁵⁸

Sugathan et al. performed RNA-seq and ChIP sequencing using iPSCderived human neural progenitor cells with CHD8 reduction.⁵⁹ Several critical pathways including synapse, axon guidance and neuron differentiation were enriched by downregulated genes. Furthermore, most CHD8 binding sites were found to be active transcription start sites, supporting a crucial role of CHD8 in chromatin and transcription regulation.

Genomic DNA methylation study using blood specimens examined genetically defined ASD patient subgroups with 16p11.2 deletion or with CHD8^{+/-} variant.⁶⁰ Both genotypes have been strongly associated with behavioral and neurodevelopmental deficits of ASD patients.^{58,61} Methylated gene profiles obtained from the subgroups were able to distinguish the subgroups from undefined individuals, showing that ASD subgroup stratification could provide more sensitive and specific diagnostics.

Neurexin (NRXN) is a neuronal presynaptic cell adhesion molecule which is crucial for synaptic function and development.^{62,63} One study

identified CNV losses of chromosome 2p16 which results in NRXN1 coding exon deletion in families with ASD individuals.⁶⁴ Zahir et al. identified de novo NRXN1-alpha deletion from a ASD patient.⁶⁵ Feng et al. identified two putative missense structural variants in NRXN1 beta gene from several ASD patients.⁶⁶ Lam et al. performed single cell RNA-seq analysis using human iPSC-derived neural stem cells and differentiated cells generated from autism patients carrying bi-alleic NRXN1-alpha deletion.⁶⁷ The authors found that NRXN1-alpha deletion resulted in astroglia generation, depressed calcium signaling and impaired excitatory neuron maturation.

Single nucleus RNA sequencing using ASD patient cortical tissues revealed that genes important for synaptic function and brain development such as NRXN1, STX1A, SYN2, TCF25, SOX5 and RBFOX3 are differentially regulated in upper-layer excitatory neurons, microglia and protoplasmic astrocytes.⁶⁸ The authors examined correlation of cell type-specific gene expression changes with the clinical ASD symptom severity. Transcriptomic changes in L2/3 neurons and microglia were found to be the most predictive of symptom severity. By comparing single cell profiles, they further revealed that cortico-cortical projection neurons across layers are commonly affected in multiple patients, suggesting that upper-layer cortical circuit dysfunction may be relevant to ASD pathology.

Provenzano et al. used microarray to analyze hippocampal transcriptome of two ASD mouse models, BTBR T⁺ Itpr3^{tf}/J (BTBR) and Engrailed-2 knockout mice, to identify conserved ASD molecular signatures.⁶⁹ While more than 150 genes were commonly expressed between the two groups, differentially expressed gene profiles common to both mouse models enriched biological processes such as regulation of ion transmembrane transport and synaptic transmission.

Parikshak et al. performed ribosomal RNA-depleted RNA sequencing using postmortem human frontal cortex, temporal cortex and cerebellum of ASD and control subjects.⁷⁰ Significant alterations in long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs) expression and neuron-specific alternative splicing were found in ASD cortices. In addition, multiple lncRNAs were predicted to interact with microRNA-protein complexes that are differentially regulated between control and ASD cortices, and with fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP) that is strongly associated with intellectual disability and ASD.⁷¹ The study revealed that cortical patterning between the frontal and temporal cortices were attenuated in ASD. In addition, transcription factor binding site enrichment analysis further found that SOX5, a mammalian corticogenesis regulator, might be involved in cortical patterning dysregulation in ASD. The co-expression network analysis showed that agerelated microglial and synaptic function were changed, suggesting that ASD genetic risks may affect cortical gene expression.

Lee et al. performed transcriptomics analysis using zebrafish embryos and larvae treated with valproic acid as a model of ASD.⁷² They found that ASD-associated genes such as ADSL, MBD5, SHANK3 and TSC1b were differentially regulated between the control and drug-treated larvae. Several synapse-related processes including generation of a signal involved in cellcell signaling, synaptic transmission and transmission of nerve impulse were enriched for genes altered in a concentration-dependent manner. Therefore, the authors suggested that valproic acid-treated zebrafish can be a promising alternative animal model for ASD research.

Multiple clustering algorithms based on scores from the ADI-R were used to identify ASD proband subgroups.⁷³ While the clustering analysis identified four phenotype clusters with distinct behavioral deficits, the authors further performed DNA microarray using lymphoblastoid cell lines from three of the subgroups (groups with severely impaired language, mild phenotype and savant skills).⁷⁴ Differentially expressed genes in severely language-impaired subgroup were involved in biological processes including circadian rhythm and apoptosis/cell death of neuroglia, astrocytes and neurons. Interestingly, differentially expressed genes common to all three ASD subgroups were found to be in uncharacterized intronic or intergenic regions associated with cellular response to androgen. Seven of the transcripts showed significant expression changes in response to dihydroxytestosterone, suggesting that the transcripts responsive to androgen may be related to a higher rate of ASD prevalence in males.

Transcriptomics and proteomics profiling of the BTBR mouse hippocampus identified several differentially regulated genes and proteins such as blood-brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and SH3 and multiple ankyrin repeat domains 3 (SHANK3).⁷⁵ The altered genes and proteins represented several pathways including axon guidance, endocytosis, and regulation of actin cytoskeleton, indicating synaptic dysfunction in the BTBR mouse hippocampus.

Broek et al. performed targeted proteomics analysis using postmortem brain tissues collected from ASD patients and typical controls.⁷⁶ The authors found that proteins involved in axon myelination and synaptic regulation were oppositely regulated between prefrontal cortex and cerebellum. The study indicated that distinct brain regions can be differentially affected in ASD.

Meta-analysis of 14 different studies including more than 2700 participants found that peripheral BDNF levels are significantly higher in ASD patients compared to controls.⁷⁷ Despite inconsistent reports on BDNF levels, the results concluded that peripheral BDNF alteration can be significantly implicated in ASD.

Synaptic interactome studies using co-immunoprecipitation (Co-IP) coupled mass spectrometry-based proteomics identified key PPIs. One interactome study with developing mouse telencephalon synaptosome revealed that p140Cap protein interacts with more than 300 proteins highly associated with multiple psychiatric disorders including ASD, SCZ, and BD.⁷⁸ Another study using developing mouse neocortical synaptosome found that MET receptor tyrosine kinase interaction networks include several key synaptic proteins such as SHANK3, synaptic Ras GTPase-activating protein 1 (SYNGAP1) and glutamate ionotropic receptor NMDA type subunit 2B (GRIN2B).⁷⁹ Mejia et al. immunoprecipitated tuberous sclerosis 1 (TSC1) interactome in mouse neuro2a cells and primary rat cortical neurons. The authors found a novel interaction between huntingtin associated protein 1 (HAP1) and TSC1. Furthermore, HAP1 was found to regulate mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) signaling and axon-dendrite morphogenesis/positioning in brain.⁸⁰

Baucum et al. performed Co-IP followed by quantitative proteomics to identify CaMKII interactome from mouse forebrains.⁸¹ The study employed the CaMKII α T286A knock-in mutation which results in reduced CaMKII α and β phosphorylation. The mutation was found to alter CaMKII interaction with ASD-related synaptic scaffolding proteins including SHANK3, disk large-associated protein 2 (DLGAP2) and SYNGAP1. Since dysregulated CaMKII signaling has been linked to Angelman syndrome which exhibits features overlapping with ASD, the authors concluded that altered PPIs in CaMKII networks may contribute to the ASD etiology.

2.3 Mitochondrial energy metabolism

Mitochondria are key organelles for cellular energy generation. Most energy produced in the brain is consumed on synaptic mechanisms mediating synaptic transmission.⁸² Mitochondria were also shown to mediate critical neurodevelopmental processes with a high energy demand such as genetic reprogramming during neuronal differentiation.⁸³ It has been shown that mitochondria are transported to the active synapse and support dendritic

spine density and synaptogenesis⁸⁴ and synaptic transmission.⁸⁵ Thus, mitochondrial impairment is strongly implicated in dysregulation of synaptic vesicle trafficking, neurotransmitter release and concomitant synaptic transmission in ASD.

Gordon et al. analyzed transcriptome from cortices and hippocampi of three mouse lines, Df(h15q13)/+, Df(h22q11)/+ and Df (h1q21)/+, carrying ASD and SCZ-associated mutations.⁸⁶ While several cortical and hippocampal co-expression networks were found to be shared among the three mouse models, one cortical module associated with neuronal mitochondria and firing rate showed gene expression patterns overlapping with transcriptomic changes in ASD and SCZ postmortem human brains. The common gene expression patterns in mice and humans suggested that neuronal bioenergetics can be a crucial mechanism for ASD.

He et al. analyzed 11 transcriptomics datasets of different human tissues from ASD and control individuals.⁸⁷ Downregulated genes in ASD patients' brain and blood specimens significantly enriched several pathways including mitochondria-related functions and oxidative phosphorylation. The authors further analyzed eight transcriptomics datasets from ASD rodent models to validate the findings from the human subjects. While all differentially expressed genes in the animal models were found to be upregulated, similar biological processes were enriched between the ASD animal and humans.

Transcriptomic meta-analysis mentioned in Section 2.1 also found that a number of genes in mitochondrial processes including oxidative phosphorylation, mitochondrial electron transport and ATP synthesis were downregulated in ASD.²⁵

While Broek et al. identified differential synaptic protein expression patterns between prefrontal cortex and cerebellum as mentioned in Section 2.2, the authors also found that creatine kinase B-type (CKB) levels were altered in ASD.⁷⁶ Creatine kinases play a central role in energy storage and distribution by catalyzing phosphate transfer between ATP and creatine phosphate. CKB was shown to affect formation and maintenance of mossy fiber connections in the hippocampus.⁸⁸ Glial CKB was associated with high energy demands related to ion homeostasis and TCA cycle metabolite/ neurotransmitter trafficking with neurons.⁸⁹ Thus, altered CKB levels in ASD brains suggest that disturbed CKB-mediated energy metabolism may be involved in synaptic dysfunction.

Shen et al. performed proteomics analysis using PBMCs of autistic and healthy children.⁹⁰ The authors reported that 17 proteins involved in carbon metabolism, pyruvate metabolism, TCA cycle and respiratory electron transport were significantly altered in the ASD PBMCs.

West et al. interrogated blood plasma metabolome of ASD and healthy children.⁹¹ The authors revealed that mitochondrial metabolites including isoleucine, glutaric acid, aspartate, glutamate and TCA cycle-associated molecules (citric acid and succinic acid) are significantly altered in children with ASD. Levels of dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate which affects oxidative energy metabolism by altering mitochondrial respiratory chain complex contents and activities^{92,93} were found to be different between autistic and healthy children.

Metabolomics analysis of the prefrontal cortex gray matter obtained from ASD individuals showed that significantly altered metabolites enrich glutathione metabolism and TCA cycle.⁹⁴ Transcriptomics data analysis in the human prefrontal and temporal cortices further found that genes for ASD-related metabolites were elevated in autistic individuals.

Blood plasma metabolome was analyzed in healthy controls and children with ASD, idiopathic-developmental delay and Down syndrome.⁹⁵ The study revealed that metabolites involved in one-carbon metabolism (serine and glycine) and TCA cycle (alanine and ornithine) were significantly elevated only in children affected by ASD. Since serine and glycine are agonists for NMDA and glycine receptors, respectively, the results suggest the close relationship between energy metabolism and synaptic activity.

2.4 Lipid transport and metabolism

Lipids are essential components of cellular membranes and vesicles. Most cholesterol in the brain are required in myelin sheath, neurons and astrocytes. Particularly, more than 70% of rodent brain cholesterol is in myelin,⁹⁶ indicating its major role in synaptic transmission regulation. Lipid rafts which contains high concentration of cholesterol and glycosphingolipids were shown to play a major role in maintenance of synapses and dendritic spines.⁹⁷ Lipids are also crucial for brain development. Mammalian brain lipids including cholesterol, phospholipids, cerebrosides, sulfatides and gangliosides highly increase during development. Several studies have demonstrated a role of lipid transport and metabolism in CNS development.^{98,99} Therefore, perturbed lipid homeostasis can directly hamper critical synaptic functions which can lead to cognitive, behavioral and emotional impairment in ASD.

Gudenas et al. re-analyzed previously acquired RNA-seq data to identify differentially expressed lncRNAs in ASD brain cortices.¹⁰⁰ More than 200 lncRNAs were found to be altered in ASD cortices. Five among the identified lncRNAs were neighboring and antisense to ASD risk genes including

RAPGEF4, DLX6, STXBP5, KLC2 and DMXL2, suggesting that the lncRNAs may be cis-regulatory elements. Furthermore, differentially expressed lncRNAs enriched functional expression modules related to lipid transport along with synaptic transmission, immune response, drug response and nucleic acid metabolism, indicating a role of lipids at the nexus of other essential pathways.

Corbett et al. performed proteomics analysis using sera obtained from autistic and healthy children.¹⁰¹ The authors separated the autism children into low-functioning autism (LFA) and high-functioning autism (HFA) subgroups based on intelligence quotient. While apolipoprotein B100 precursor (APOB100), complement factors and fibronectin 1 isoform 1 preproprotein (FN1) levels were altered in general autistic children, comparison between the autism subgroups revealed that apolipoprotein A-IV (APOA4) and APOB100 levels were significantly lower in LFA than HFA sera. Since most brain cholesterols are locally produced by glial cells,¹⁰² apolipoprotein-mediated lipid transport can play a crucial role in diverse neuronal pathways.

Yang et al. analyzed blood sera of Han Chinese children with ASD to identify peptide biomarkers.¹⁰³ The authors found that eight peptide peaks were higher in ASD than control sera. The peptides were found to be derived from proteins such as fatty acid binding protein 1 (FABP1) and apolipoprotein C-I precursor (APOC1) involved in lipid metabolism regulation.

Steeb et al. used multiplex immunoassay profiling and proteomics to analyze sera of adults with AS.¹⁰⁴ The authors found that several lipid transport and metabolism-related proteins including apolipoprotein A1 (APOA1), apolipoprotein E (APOE), apolipoprotein C2 (APOC2), adiponectin (ADIPO), fetuin-B precursor (FETUB) and D-glucuronyl C5-epimerase (GLCE) were altered specifically in female AS patients. In addition, sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG) expression patterns between men and women were found to be opposite. SHBG is a major transporter of sex steroids such as testosterone and other androgens which were suggested to contribute to the ASD development.¹⁰⁵ Based on their results, the authors demonstrated that gender subgroup stratification may be required in the studies of AS biomarkers and drug targets.

Wang et al. found the serum metabolomic profile differences between autistic and healthy individuals.¹⁰⁶ The authors revealed that lipids including sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P), docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and docosapentaenoic acid were significantly altered in ASD cohorts. S1P and

DHA were significantly correlated with the autism behavior checklist (ABC) score, representing biomarker candidates for ASD diagnosis.

2.5 Gut microbiome

The microbiota-gut-brain axis coordinates communication and interaction between enteric and central nervous system, therefore affecting emotional and cognitive functions in the host. Gut microbes provide neuroactive compounds and immune modulators including serotonin, dopamine, γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA), acetylcholine, histamine and short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs). In addition, gut microbiome was shown to regulate blood-brain barrier formation and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal stress response.¹⁰⁷ increasing evidence strongly suggests that abnormal gut microbiome could serve as one of major contributors to ASD development.^{108,109} Various gastrointestinal symptoms in autistic individuals also support a significant link between gut microbiome and ASD.¹¹⁰

de Theije et al. analyzed microbiota composition of caeca samples from mouse pups exposed to in utero valproic acid.¹¹¹ Pyrosequencing analysis revealed that prenatal valproic acid exposure resulted in transgenerational gut microbiota changes in the offspring. Microbiota differences of drug-exposed male offspring were significantly correlated with increased caecal butyrate and decreased ileal serotonin levels.

Ming et al. performed metabolomics analysis to identify urinary biosignatures for ASD. They found that microbial metabolites including 2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)propionate, taurocholenate sulfate, 3-(3-hydroxyphenyl)propionate and 5-aminovalerate (5-AV) were significantly altered in children with ASD.¹¹²

Yap et al. analyzed urinary metabolite profiles of ASD patients using ¹H NMR spectroscopy.¹¹³ The authors found that gut microbial and mammalian cometabolites including dimethylamine, hippurate and phenyacetylglutamine were significantly different between ASD and control subjects. The metabolites were suggested to be involved in interconnected pathways among gut microbiome, energy metabolism and methylamine, suggesting the systemic effects of gut microbiome.¹¹⁴

Kaluzna-Czaplinska interrogated urinary metabolome profiles to find organic acid level differences between autistic and control children.¹¹⁵ The author suggested that gut bacterial metabolism might affect several metabolites including hydroxyphenylacetate and hippurate. Emond et al. examined urinary metabolome to investigate biomarker candidates for ASD.¹¹⁶ Nineteen metabolites including succinate, glycolate, hippurate, 3-hydroxyphenylacetate, hydroxyacetate, 1H-indole-3-acetate, phosphate, palmitate, stearate and 3-methyladipate were found to be discriminative between autistic and healthy children, thus representing potential biomarkers for ASD diagnosis. Altered levels of microbe-derived metabolites such as hippurate, 3-hydroxyphenylacetate, 3-hydroxyphenylacetate implicated significant effects of gut microbiome on the host metabolome.

De Angelis et al. analyzed fecal metabolome of children with PPD-NOS and ASD.¹¹⁷ The authors found that beneficial metabolites such as free amino acids (FAAs) and SCFAs were significantly decreased in feces of PDD-NOS and ASD compared to healthy individual. They also revealed significant correlations between metabolically active bacteria abundance and metabolites levels. *Faecalibacterium, Ruminococcus* and *Bifidobacterium* genera were positively correlated with total SCFA levels. Total FAA levels were correlated with *Bacteroides* genus.

Sharon et al. performed metabolomics using colon contents from mice harboring ASD human gut microbiome.¹⁰⁸ Adult offspring from mice transplanted with gut microbiome of ASD patient donors showed significantly altered autistic behaviors, and microbiome and metabolome profiles. Weak GABA_A receptor agonists including 5-AV and taurine were found to be lower in mice with ASD microbiome. 5-AV treatment significantly decreased cortical neuron excitability in BTBR mice. Taurine treatment was found to delay inhibitory neurotransmission switch in response to GABA exposure in primary rat cortical neurons. Therefore, the study suggested that neuroactive metabolite alterations by ASD gut microbiome may affect the host neuronal activity. Transcriptomics analysis using mouse prefrontal cortex and striatum further revealed differential expression of diacylglycerol lipase beta which is required for axonal growth and guidance.¹¹⁸ In addition, alternative splicing events relevant for several ribosome binding protein targets were significantly altered in ASD mouse brains.

Kang et al. analyzed fecal microbial metabolites in children with ASD using ¹H NMR spectroscopy.¹¹⁹ The authors found that isopropanol, *p*-cresol and GABA concentrations were significantly altered in ASD compared to healthy individuals. In addition, they showed that Fischer discriminant analysis model using caprate, nicotinate, glutamine, thymine and aspartate can separate ASD from control cases, therefore suggesting that the metabolite group may be used as biomarkers.

2.6 Ubiquitin-proteasome system

The ubiquitin-proteasome system was shown to control synaptic structure and activity by regulating synaptic protein composition that is important for synaptic formation and maintenance such as SNARE complex proteins, AMPAR and PSD95.^{120,121} Thus, perturbed proteolysis processes including ubiquitin mis-conjugation to the protein of target and subsequent failure of proteasomal degradation can lead to synaptic dysfunction, implicating a crucial role of the defective machinery in ASD.

Yi et al. found the link between ubiquitin and Wnt signaling pathways in ASD. The authors compared published databases for ubiquitin protein ligase E3A (UBE3A) interactome and Wnt signaling regulators.¹²² While multiple UBE3A interacting proteins were found to be negative Wnt signaling regulators, they quantitated ubiquitinated peptide profiles to identify UBE3A substrates. They revealed that ASD-associated de novo UBE3A^{T485S} mutation depleted the original UBE3A interactors and substrates including proteasome 19S regulatory subunits (PSMD1, PSMD2, PSMD11, PSMC2, and PSMC5) and 20S core subunits (PSMA1, PSMA2, and PSMB1).

Glessner et al. interrogated whole genome CNVs which confer an ASD risk.¹²³ The authors found that neuronal development-associated genes such as NRXN1, CNTN4, ASTN2 and NLGN1 had a higher CNV frequency in ASD compared to control cases. Interestingly, CNVs associated with ubiquitin ligase genes including UBE3A, PARK2, RFWD2 and FBXO40 were found only in ASD patients, suggesting a role of ubiquitin-proteasome system for ASD susceptibility.

2.7 Epigenetic regulation

Epigenetic regulation including DNA CpG methylation and histone modifications determines chromatin architecture, transcription factor accessibility and gene expression levels. The important role of epigenetic regulation has been highlighted in ASD. Multiple ASD-associated epigenetic changes in PRRT1, FAM181A, CHFR, AURKA, MAP8KIP3, NALP1L5, TET, MECP2, DNMT1 and MTHFR were suggested to affect crucial synaptic and neurodevelopmental processes.¹²⁴

Whole exome sequencing using whole blood obtained from 10-year-old autistic male identified a de novo mutation in HIST1H1E which encodes histone H1.4 or H1E proteins involved in heterochromatin formation.¹²⁵ The authors performed a systemic review using autism genetics databases

including SFARI and autDB. The analysis revealed that 42 genes related to ASD are directly associated with epigenetic machinery.

Ladd-Acosta et al. examined global DNA methylation profiles using postmortem brain tissues including dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, temporal cortex and cerebellum from autism and control cases.¹²⁶ Four differentially methylated regions near PRRT1, 11orf21, ZFP57 and SDHAP3 genes were found commonly across three brain regions. Ellis et al. analyzed DNA methylation using postmortem BA19 brain tissues from autistic and control subjects.¹²⁷ The authors found that several CpH sites were hypermethylated in autism brains. Interestingly, 10 histone methylations were only enriched in brains, but not in lymphoblastoid cell lines from the corresponding patients, indicating that epigenetic dysregulation can be tissue-specific.

2.8 Big data analysis with machine learning approach

Big data analysis empowered by machine learning methods has achieved promising advances in ASD research. Machine learning based on large-scale omics and clinical diagnosis data has assisted studies aimed at more precise diagnosis.

Gong et al. applied the KF algorithm to predict new ASD susceptibility genes.¹²⁸ The algorithm used datasets generated from biomedical text mining. The authors identified a number of ASD candidate genes for several members of orthodenticle homeobox, 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor (HTR), GABA receptor (GABAR) and protocadherin (PCDH).

Jiao et al. applied machine learning techniques to assess whether SNPs can predict ASD symptom severity.¹²⁹ They analyzed 29 SNPs of nine ASD-associated genes in ASD children subgroups with different symptom severity. SNP-based diagnostic models were generated using three different methods including decision stumps, alternating decision trees and FlexTrees algorithms. The study found the SNP rs878960 in GABRB3, a gene encoding GABAR subunit beta-3, to be predictive for symptom severity. Thus, the authors suggested that SNPs in ASD genes can be used as accurate classifiers for ASD symptom severity.

Oh et al. used the published microarray data obtained from peripheral leukocytes of ASD patients.¹³⁰ The authors established a predictive diagnosis model based on 19 differentially expressed genes to distinguish autistic and typically developing individuals. While the 19-probe set showed a high accuracy to discriminate the two groups, pyruvate kinase muscle isozyme involved in glycolysis was found to be the best discriminant.

Xiong et al. used deep learning algorithms to compute a score for RNA splicing by DNA variants in ASD.¹³¹ The authors analyzed whole genome sequence of brain tissues from the Autism Tissue Program to identify causal SNPs for splicing misregulation. They found that genes with predicted missplicing were enriched in several ASD-relevant pathways including synaptic transmission, neuron projection, mitotic cell cycle, embryonic development and CNS development.

To predict functional and pathogenic de novo mutations in ASD, Zhou et al. analyzed whole genome of ASD simplex families using deep convolutional-network-based framework.¹³² Non-coding mutations in ASD probands were predicted to affect brain-specific genes. In addition, genes in synapse and chromatin-related clusters showed similar expression patterns with those with high-impact proband mutations. Thus, the study discovered the causal contribution of non-coding mutations in the ASD etiology.

3. Conclusions and future directions in the biomarker and therapy discovery based on -omics and big data analysis

While -omics and big data analysis have profoundly advanced ASD research by providing information on affected biosignatures and pathways (Fig. 1), none has been validated as reliable clinical biomarkers and therapy targets. This may be the result of the current clinical diagnosis strategy based on standard tests including the Diagnostic and Standard Manual of Mental Disorders, the Childhood Autism Rating Scale, the ABC, the Gilliam Autism Rating Scale, the ADI-R and the Checklist for Autism in Toddlers. Since the standard tests are only based on phenotypic and behavioral traits, underlying biological mechanisms need to be considered for more precise diagnosis and treatment. Therefore, Research Domain Criteria (RDoC) has been suggested to be an alternative framework for biological classification system. The RDoC can address more biological and functional domains related to ASD. For instance, Hennessey et al. attempted to classify amygdala dysfunction in ASD using five RDoC domains including Negative Valence Systems, Positive Valence Systems, Cognitive Systems, Social Processes and Arousal and Regulatory Systems.¹³³ Systemic molecular profiling using -omics and big data analysis will strongly assist RDoC-based diagnosis strategy.



Fig. 1 The overview of biosignatures and pathways identified from -omics and big data analysis for autism spectrum disorder.

More research on ASD subgroup stratification based on molecular profiles is strongly required to overcome the current diagnostic and therapeutic limitations. The current studies have used clinical phenotypes and characterized single genotypes to stratify the subgroups. However, stratification efforts based on -omics and other big data are largely missing. The molecular subgrouping will not only provide information on underlying mechanisms specific to relevant subgroups, but also assist customized pharmacological interventions. While effective treatment for ASD core symptoms has been very challenging, several classes of drugs including atypical antipsychotics, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, tricyclic antidepressants, anticonvulsants, NMDA receptor antagonists, acetylcholinesterase inhibitors, psychostimulants, adrenergic alpha-2 receptor agonists and opiate antagonists have been shown to attenuate associated behavioral symptoms such as hyperactivity, anxiety, repetitive behavior, aggression and self-injury.¹³⁴ With the help of advanced machine learning methods, integrated multiomics data may further help to improve pharmacological treatment efficiency.

Ultimately, there is an absolute necessity to establish the integrated molecular guideline based on databases acquired from -omics and other biological measurements. The molecular guideline databases will significantly advance clinical diagnosis and treatment of ASD.

Conflict of interest

The author declares no conflict of interest.

References

- DeFilippis M. Depression in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. *Children (Basel)*. 2018;5(9):E112. https://doi.org/10.3390/children5090112. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- van Steensel FJ, Bogels SM, Perrin S. Anxiety disorders in children and adolescents with autistic spectrum disorders: a meta-analysis. *Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev.* 2011; 14(3):302–317. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-011-0097-0. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Elsabbagh M, Divan G, Koh YJ, et al. Global prevalence of autism and other pervasive developmental disorders. *Autism Res.* 2012;5(3):160–179. https://doi.org/10.1002/ aur.239. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Huguet G, Ey E, Bourgeron T. The genetic landscapes of autism spectrum disorders. *Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet*. 2013;14:191–213. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-genom-091212-153431. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Geschwind DH, Levitt P. Autism spectrum disorders: developmental disconnection syndromes. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* 2007;17(1):103–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.conb.2007.01.009. [published Online First: Epub Date].

- Happe F, Ronald A, Plomin R. Time to give up on a single explanation for autism. *Nat Neurosci.* 2006;9(10):1218–1220. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1770. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Pantazatos SP, Huang YY, Rosoklija GB, Dwork AJ, Arango V, Mann JJ. Wholetranscriptome brain expression and exon-usage profiling in major depression and suicide: evidence for altered glial, endothelial and ATPase activity. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2017;22(5):760–773. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2016.130. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Silva-Costa LC, Carlson PT, Guest PC, de Almeida V, Martins-de-Souza D. Proteomic markers for depression. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2019;1118:191–206. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-05542-4_10. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Woo HI, Lim SW, Myung W, Kim DK, Lee SY. Differentially expressed genes related to major depressive disorder and antidepressant response: genome-wide gene expression analysis. *Exp Mol Med.* 2018;50(8):92. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-018-0123-0. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Wray NR, Ripke S, Mattheisen M, et al. Genome-wide association analyses identify 44 risk variants and refine the genetic architecture of major depression. *Nat Genet.* 2018;50(5):668–681. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-018-0090-3. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Luykx JJ, Giuliani F, Giuliani G, Veldink J. Coding and non-coding RNA abnormalities in bipolar disorder. *Genes (Basel)*. 2019;10(11):E946. https://doi.org/10.3390/ genes10110946. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Stahl EA, Breen G, Forstner AJ, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies 30 loci associated with bipolar disorder. *Nat Genet.* 2019;51(5):793–803. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41588-019-0397-8. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium, Ripke S, et al. Biological insights from 108 schizophrenia-associated genetic loci. *Nature*. 2014;511(7510):421–427. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13595. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Gusev A, Mancuso N, Won H, et al. Transcriptome-wide association study of schizophrenia and chromatin activity yields mechanistic disease insights. *Nat Genet*. 2018;50(4):538–548. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-018-0092-1. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Jaffe AE, Straub RE, Shin JH, et al. Developmental and genetic regulation of the human cortex transcriptome illuminate schizophrenia pathogenesis. *Nat Neurosci.* 2018;21(8):1117–1125. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0197-y. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Nascimento JM, Martins-de-Souza D. The proteome of schizophrenia. NPJ Schizophr. 2015;1(1):14003. https://doi.org/10.1038/npjschz.2014.3. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Misiewicz Z, Iurato S, Kulesskaya N, et al. Multi-omics analysis identifies mitochondrial pathways associated with anxiety-related behavior. *PLoS Genet.* 2019;15(9): e1008358. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1008358. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Otowa T, Hek K, Lee M, et al. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies of anxiety disorders. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2016;21(10):1391–1399. https://doi.org/10.1038/ mp.2015.197[published Online First: Epub Date].
- Hughes HK, Mills Ko E, Rose D, Ashwood P. Immune dysfunction and autoimmunity as pathological mechanisms in autism spectrum disorders. *Front Cell Neurosci.* 2018;12:405. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2018.00405[published Online First: Epub Date].
- Gandal MJ, Zhang P, Hadjimichael E, et al. Transcriptome-wide isoform-level dysregulation in ASD, schizophrenia, and bipolar disorder. *Science*. 2018;362(6420): eaat8127. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aat8127. [published Online First: Epub Date].

- Gupta S, Ellis SE, Ashar FN, et al. Transcriptome analysis reveals dysregulation of innate immune response genes and neuronal activity-dependent genes in autism. *Nat Commun.* 2014;5:5748. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6748. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Voineagu I, Wang X, Johnston P, et al. Transcriptomic analysis of autistic brain reveals convergent molecular pathology. *Nature*. 2011;474(7351):380–384. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature10110. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Tyler CV, Schramm SC, Karafa M, Tang AS, Jain AK. Chronic disease risks in young adults with autism spectrum disorder: forewarned is forearmed. *Am J Intellect Dev Disabil.* 2011;116(5):371–380. https://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7558-116.5.371. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Crawley JN, Heyer WD, LaSalle JM. Autism and cancer share risk genes, pathways, and drug targets. *Trends Genet*. 2016;32(3):139–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.tig.2016.01.001. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Fores-Martos J, Catala-Lopez F, Sanchez-Valle J, et al. Transcriptomic metaanalyses of autistic brains reveals shared gene expression and biological pathway abnormalities with cancer. *Mol Autism*. 2019;10:17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-019-0262-8. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Feng C, Chen Y, Pan J, et al. Redox proteomic identification of carbonylated proteins in autism plasma: insight into oxidative stress and its related biomarkers in autism. *Clin Proteomics*. 2017;14:2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12014-017-9138-0. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Momeni N, Brudin L, Behnia F, et al. High complement factor I activity in the plasma of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism Res Treat.* 2012; 2012:868576. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/868576. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Momeni N, Bergquist J, Brudin L, et al. A novel blood-based biomarker for detection of autism spectrum disorders. *Transl Psychiatry*. 2012;2:e91. https://doi.org/10.1038/ tp.2012.19. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Suganya V, Geetha A, Sujatha S. Urine proteome analysis to evaluate protein biomarkers in children with autism. *Clin Chim Acta*. 2015;450:210–219. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cca.2015.08.015. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Khan MM, Bradford HN, Isordia-Salas I, et al. High-molecular-weight kininogen fragments stimulate the secretion of cytokines and chemokines through uPAR, Mac-1, and gC1qR in monocytes. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2006;26(10): 2260–2266. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000240290.70852.c0. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Wallis R, Dodds AW, Mitchell DA, Sim RB, Reid KB, Schwaeble WJ. Molecular interactions between MASP-2, C4, and C2 and their activation fragments leading to complement activation via the lectin pathway. *J Biol Chem.* 2007;282(11): 7844–7851. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M606326200. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 32. Junaid MA, Kowal D, Barua M, Pullarkat PS, Sklower Brooks S, Pullarkat RK. Proteomic studies identified a single nucleotide polymorphism in glyoxalase I as autism susceptibility factor. *Am J Med Genet A*. 2004;131(1):11–17. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajmg.a.30349. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Distler MG, Plant LD, Sokoloff G, et al. Glyoxalase 1 increases anxiety by reducing GABAA receptor agonist methylglyoxal. J Clin Invest. 2012; 122(6):2306–2315. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci61319. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Hovatta I, Tennant RS, Helton R, et al. Glyoxalase 1 and glutathione reductase 1 regulate anxiety in mice. *Nature*. 2005;438(7068):662–666. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature04250. [published Online First: Epub Date].

- Williams R, Lim JE, Harr B, et al. A common and unstable copy number variant is associated with differences in Glo1 expression and anxiety-like behavior. *PLoS One*. 2009;4(3):e4649. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004649. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Guo Y, Wang P, Sun H, Cai R, Xia W, Wang S. Advanced glycation end productinduced astrocytic differentiation of cultured neurospheres through inhibition of Notch-Hes1 pathway-mediated neurogenesis. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2013;15(1):159–170. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms15010159. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Kim J, Wan CK, Joc S, Shaikh SB, Nicholson LF. The role of receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) in neuronal differentiation. *J Neurosci Res.* 2012;90(6):1136–1147. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23014. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Vogel Ciernia A, Careaga M, LaSalle JM, Ashwood P. Microglia from offspring of dams with allergic asthma exhibit epigenomic alterations in genes dysregulated in autism. *Glia.* 2018;66(3):505–521. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.23261. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Giovedi S, Corradi A, Fassio A, Benfenati F. Involvement of synaptic genes in the pathogenesis of autism spectrum disorders: the case of synapsins. *Front Pediatr.* 2014;2:94. https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2014.00094. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Martinez-Cerdeno V. Dendrite and spine modifications in autism and related neurodevelopmental disorders in patients and animal models. *Dev Neurobiol.* 2017;77(4):393–404. https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.22417. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- De Rubeis S, He X, Goldberg AP, et al. Synaptic, transcriptional and chromatin genes disrupted in autism. *Nature*. 2014;515(7526):209–215. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature13772. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Ronan JL, Wu W, Crabtree GR. From neural development to cognition: unexpected roles for chromatin. *Nat Rev Genet*. 2013;14(5):347–359. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrg3413. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Callaghan DB, Rogic S, Tan PPC, et al. Whole genome sequencing and variant discovery in the ASPIRE autism spectrum disorder cohort. *Clin Genet*. 2019;96(3):199–206. https://doi.org/10.1111/cge.13556. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Lim ET, Uddin M, De Rubeis S, et al. Rates, distribution and implications of postzygotic mosaic mutations in autism spectrum disorder. *Nat Neurosci.* 2017;20(9):1217–1224. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4598. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Bender KJ, Trussell LO. The physiology of the axon initial segment. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2012;35:249–265. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-062111-150339. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 46. Pain O, Pocklington AJ, Holmans PA, et al. Novel insight into the etiology of autism spectrum disorder gained by integrating expression data with genome-wide association statistics. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2019;86(4):265–273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2019.04.034. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Sanders SJ, He X, Willsey AJ, et al. Insights into autism spectrum disorder genomic architecture and biology from 71 risk loci. *Neuron*. 2015;87(6):1215–1233. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.09.016. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Grunwald LM, Stock R, Haag K, et al. Comparative characterization of human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSC) derived from patients with schizophrenia and autism. *Transl Psychiatry*. 2019;9(1):179. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-019-0517-3. [published Online First: Epub Date].

- Gao Y, Wang F, Eisinger BE, Kelnhofer LE, Jobe EM, Zhao X. Integrative single-cell transcriptomics reveals molecular networks defining neuronal maturation during postnatal neurogenesis. *Cereb Cortex*. 2017;27(3):2064–2077. https://doi.org/10.1093/ cercor/bhw040. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- DeRosa BA, El Hokayem J, Artimovich E, et al. Convergent pathways in idiopathic autism revealed by time course transcriptomic analysis of patient-derived neurons. *Sci Rep* 2018;8(1):8423. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-26495-1. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Pinto D, Delaby E, Merico D, et al. Convergence of genes and cellular pathways dysregulated in autism spectrum disorders. *Am J Hum Genet*. 2014;94(5):677–694. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.03.018. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 52. Hu VW, Addington A, Hyman A. Novel autism subtype-dependent genetic variants are revealed by quantitative trait and subphenotype association analyses of published GWAS data. *PLoS One.* 2011;6(4):e19067. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0019067. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Bralten J, van Hulzen KJ, Martens MB, et al. Autism spectrum disorders and autistic traits share genetics and biology. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2018;23(5):1205–1212. https://doi. org/10.1038/mp.2017.98. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 54. O'Roak BJ, Vives L, Fu W, et al. Multiplex targeted sequencing identifies recurrently mutated genes in autism spectrum disorders. *Science*. 2012;338(6114):1619–1622. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1227764. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Durak O, Gao F, Kaeser-Woo YJ, et al. Chd8 mediates cortical neurogenesis via transcriptional regulation of cell cycle and Wnt signaling. *Nat Neurosci.* 2016;19(11):1477–1488. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4400. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Nishiyama M, Skoultchi AI, Nakayama KI. Histone H1 recruitment by CHD8 is essential for suppression of the Wnt-beta-catenin signaling pathway. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2012;32(2):501–512. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.06409-11. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Xu Q, Liu YY, Wang X, et al. Autism-associated CHD8 deficiency impairs axon development and migration of cortical neurons. *Mol Autism*. 2018;9:65. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13229-018-0244-2. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Merner N, Forgeot d'Arc B, Bell SC, et al. A de novo frameshift mutation in chromodomain helicase DNA-binding domain 8 (CHD8): case report and literature review. *Am J Med Genet A*. 2016;170a(5):1225–1235. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg. a.37566. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Sugathan A, Biagioli M, Golzio C, et al. CHD8 regulates neurodevelopmental pathways associated with autism spectrum disorder in neural progenitors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. 2014;111(42):E4468–E4477. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1405266111. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 60. Siu MT, Butcher DT, Turinsky AL, et al. Functional DNA methylation signatures for autism spectrum disorder genomic risk loci: 16p11.2 deletions and CHD8 variants. *Clin Epigenetics*. 2019;11(1):103. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-019-0684-3. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 61. Fernandez BA, Roberts W, Chung B, et al. Phenotypic spectrum associated with de novo and inherited deletions and duplications at 16p11.2 in individuals ascertained for diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder. *J Med Genet.* 2010;47(3):195–203. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmg.2009.069369. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Craig AM, Kang Y. Neurexin-neuroligin signaling in synapse development. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* 2007;17(1):43–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2007.01.011. [published Online First: Epub Date].

- Sudhof TC. Neuroligins and neurexins link synaptic function to cognitive disease. *Nature*. 2008;455(7215):903–911. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07456. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Szatmari P, Paterson AD, Zwaigenbaum L, et al. Mapping autism risk loci using genetic linkage and chromosomal rearrangements. *Nat Genet*. 2007;39(3):319–328. https://doi. org/10.1038/ng1985. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Zahir FR, Baross A, Delaney AD, et al. A patient with vertebral, cognitive and behavioural abnormalities and a de novo deletion of NRXN1alpha. J Med Genet. 2008;45(4):239–243. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmg.2007.054437. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 66. Feng J, Schroer R, Yan J, et al. High frequency of neurexin 1beta signal peptide structural variants in patients with autism. *Neurosci Lett.* 2006;409(1):10–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2006.08.017. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 67. Lam M, Moslem M, Bryois J, et al. Single cell analysis of autism patient with bi-allelic NRXN1-alpha deletion reveals skewed fate choice in neural progenitors and impaired neuronal functionality. *Exp Cell Res.* 2019;383(1):111469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yexcr.2019.06.014. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Velmeshev D, Schirmer L, Jung D, et al. Single-cell genomics identifies cell typespecific molecular changes in autism. *Science*. 2019;364(6441):685–689. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.aav8130. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Provenzano G, Corradi Z, Monsorno K, et al. comparative gene expression analysis of two mouse models of autism: transcriptome profiling of the BTBR and En2 (-/-) hippocampus. *Front Neurosci.* 2016;10:396. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2016. 00396. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Parikshak NN, Swarup V, Belgard TG, et al. Genome-wide changes in lncRNA, splicing, and regional gene expression patterns in autism. *Nature*. 2016;540(7633):423–427. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature20612. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- McLennan Y, Polussa J, Tassone F, Hagerman R. Fragile x syndrome. *Curr Genomics*. 2011;12(3):216–224. https://doi.org/10.2174/138920211795677886. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 72. Lee S, Chun HS, Lee J, et al. Plausibility of the zebrafish embryos/larvae as an alternative animal model for autism: a comparison study of transcriptome changes. *PLoS One*. 2018;13(9): e0203543. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203543. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Hu VW, Steinberg ME. Novel clustering of items from the autism diagnostic interview-revised to define phenotypes within autism spectrum disorders. *Autism Res.* 2009;2(2):67–77. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.72. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 74. Hu VW, Sarachana T, Kim KS, et al. Gene expression profiling differentiates autism case-controls and phenotypic variants of autism spectrum disorders: evidence for circadian rhythm dysfunction in severe autism. *Autism Res.* 2009;2(2):78–97. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.73. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Daimon CM, Jasien JM, Wood 3rd WH, et al. Hippocampal transcriptomic and proteomic alterations in the BTBR mouse model of autism spectrum disorder. *Front Physiol.* 2015;6:324. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2015.00324. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Broek JA, Guest PC, Rahmoune H, Bahn S. Proteomic analysis of post mortem brain tissue from autism patients: evidence for opposite changes in prefrontal cortex and cerebellum in synaptic connectivity-related proteins. *Mol Autism*. 2014;5:41. https://doi. org/10.1186/2040-2392-5-41. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Zheng Z, Zhang L, Zhu T, Huang J, Qu Y, Mu D. Peripheral brain-derived neurotrophic factor in autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6:31241. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep31241. [published Online First: Epub Date].

- Alfieri A, Sorokina O, Adrait A, et al. Synaptic interactome mining reveals p140Cap as a new hub for PSD proteins involved in psychiatric and neurological disorders. *Front Mol Neurosci.* 2017;10:212. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2017.00212. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Xie Z, Li J, Baker J, Eagleson KL, Coba MP, Levitt P. Receptor tyrosine kinase MET interactome and neurodevelopmental disorder partners at the developing synapse. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2016;80(12):933–942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.02.022. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Mejia LA, Litterman N, Ikeuchi Y, et al. A novel Hap1-Tsc1 interaction regulates neuronal mTORC1 signaling and morphogenesis in the brain. J Neurosci. 2013; 33(46):18015–18021. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2290-13.2013. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Baucum 2nd AJ, Shonesy BC, Rose KL, Colbran RJ. Quantitative proteomics analysis of CaMKII phosphorylation and the CaMKII interactome in the mouse forebrain. ACS Chem Nerosci. 2015;6(4):615–631. https://doi.org/10.1021/cn500337u. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Harris JJ, Jolivet R, Attwell D. Synaptic energy use and supply. *Neuron*. 2012;75(5):762–777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.08.019. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Zheng X, Boyer L, Jin M, et al. Metabolic reprogramming during neuronal differentiation from aerobic glycolysis to neuronal oxidative phosphorylation. *Elife*. 2016;5: e13374. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.13374. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Li Z, Okamoto K, Hayashi Y, Sheng M. The importance of dendritic mitochondria in the morphogenesis and plasticity of spines and synapses. *Cell*. 2004;119(6):873–887. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2004.11.003. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Levy M, Faas GC, Saggau P, Craigen WJ, Sweatt JD. Mitochondrial regulation of synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(20):17727–17734. https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M212878200. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Gordon A, Forsingdal A, Klewe IV, et al. Transcriptomic networks implicate neuronal energetic abnormalities in three mouse models harboring autism and schizophrenia-associated mutations. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2019;https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41380-019-0576-0. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- He Y, Zhou Y, Ma W, Wang J. An integrated transcriptomic analysis of autism spectrum disorder. *Sci Rep.* 2019;9(1):11818. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-48160-x. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 88. Jost CR, Van Der Zee CE, In 't Zandt HJ, et al. Creatine kinase B-driven energy transfer in the brain is important for habituation and spatial learning behaviour, mossy fibre field size and determination of seizure susceptibility. *Eur J Neurosci.* 2002;15(10):1692–1706. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1460-9568.2002.02001.x. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Hemmer W, Wallimann T. Functional aspects of creatine kinase in brain. *Dev Neurosci*. 1993;15(3–5):249–260. https://doi.org/10.1159/000111342. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Shen L, Feng C, Zhang K, et al. Proteomics study of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) in autistic children. *Front Cell Neurosci.* 2019;13:105. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fncel.2019.00105[published Online First: Epub Date].
- West PR, Amaral DG, Bais P, et al. Metabolomics as a tool for discovery of biomarkers of autism spectrum disorder in the blood plasma of children. *PLoS One.* 2014;9(11): e112445. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0112445. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 92. Patel MA, Katyare SS. Treatment with dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) stimulates oxidative energy metabolism in the cerebral mitochondria. A comparative study of effects in old and young adult rats. *Neurosci Lett.* 2006;402(1–2):131–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2006.03.057. [published Online First: Epub Date].

- Safiulina D, Peet N, Seppet E, Zharkovsky A, Kaasik A. Dehydroepiandrosterone inhibits complex I of the mitochondrial respiratory chain and is neurotoxic in vitro and in vivo at high concentrations. *Toxicol Sci.* 2006;93(2):348–356. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/toxsci/kfl064. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Kurochkin I, Khrameeva E, Tkachev A, et al. Metabolome signature of autism in the human prefrontal cortex. *Commun Biol.* 2019;2:234. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-019-0485-4. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Orozco JS, Hertz-Picciotto I, Abbeduto L, Slupsky CM. Metabolomics analysis of children with autism, idiopathic-developmental delays, and Down syndrome. *Transl Psychiatry*. 2019;9(1):243. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-019-0578-3. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Dietschy JM, Turley SD. Thematic review series: brain Lipids. Cholesterol metabolism in the central nervous system during early development and in the mature animal. *J Lipid Res.* 2004;45(8):1375–1397. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R400004-JLR200. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Hering H, Lin CC, Sheng M. Lipid rafts in the maintenance of synapses, dendritic spines, and surface AMPA receptor stability. J Neurosci. 2003;23(8):3262–3271.
- Betsholtz C. Lipid transport and human brain development. Nat Genet. 2015;47(7):699–701. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3348. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Liu Q, Trotter J, Zhang J, et al. Neuronal LRP1 knockout in adult mice leads to impaired brain lipid metabolism and progressive, age-dependent synapse loss and neurodegeneration. J Neurosci. 2010;30(50):17068–17078. https://doi.org/10.1523/ jneurosci.4067-10.2010. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Gudenas BL, Srivastava AK, Wang L. Integrative genomic analyses for identification and prioritization of long non-coding RNAs associated with autism. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(5): e0178532. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0178532. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 101. Corbett BA, Kantor AB, Schulman H, et al. A proteomic study of serum from children with autism showing differential expression of apolipoproteins and complement proteins. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2007;12(3):292–306. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4001943. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Dietschy JM. Central nervous system: cholesterol turnover, brain development and neurodegeneration. *Biol Chem.* 2009;390(4):287–293. https://doi.org/10.1515/ bc.2009.035. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 103. Yang J, Chen Y, Xiong X, et al. Peptidome analysis reveals novel serum biomarkers for children with autism spectrum disorder in China. *Proteomics Clin Appl.* 2018;12(5). e1700164. https://doi.org/10.1002/prca.201700164. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 104. Steeb H, Ramsey JM, Guest PC, et al. Serum proteomic analysis identifies sex-specific differences in lipid metabolism and inflammation profiles in adults diagnosed with Asperger syndrome. *Mol Autism*. 2014;5(1):4. https://doi.org/10.1186/2040-2392-5-4. [publishedOnline First: Epub Date].
- 105. Ingudomnukul E, Baron-Cohen S, Wheelwright S, Knickmeyer R. Elevated rates of testosterone-related disorders in women with autism spectrum conditions. *Horm Behav.* 2007;51(5):597–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2007.02.001. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 106. Wang H, Liang S, Wang M, et al. Potential serum biomarkers from a metabolomics study of autism. J Psychiatry Neurosci. 2016;41(1):27–37. https://doi.org/10.1503/ jpn.140009. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 107. Rogers GB, Keating DJ, Young RL, Wong ML, Licinio J, Wesselingh S. From gut dysbiosis to altered brain function and mental illness: mechanisms and pathways. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2016;21(6):738–748. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2016.50. [published Online First: Epub Date].

- Sharon G, Cruz NJ, Kang DW, et al. Human gut microbiota from autism spectrum disorder promote behavioral symptoms in mice. *Cell.* 2019;177(6). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cell.2019.05.0041600–18.e17. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 109. Stilling RM, Moloney GM, Ryan FJ, et al. Social interaction-induced activation of RNA splicing in the amygdala of microbiome-deficient mice. *Elife*. 2018;7:e33070. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.33070. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 110. Li Q, Han Y, Dy ABC, Hagerman RJ. The gut microbiota and autism spectrum Disorders. Front Cell Neurosci. 2017;11:120. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2017. 00120. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 111. de Theije CG, Wopereis H, Ramadan M, et al. Altered gut microbiota and activity in a murine model of autism spectrum disorders. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2014;37:197–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2013.12.005. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 112. Ming X, Stein TP, Barnes V, Rhodes N, Guo L. Metabolic perturbance in autism spectrum disorders: a metabolomics study. *J Proteome Res.* 2012;11(12):5856–5862. https:// doi.org/10.1021/pr300910n. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 113. Yap IK, Angley M, Veselkov KA, Holmes E, Lindon JC, Nicholson JK. Urinary metabolic phenotyping differentiates children with autism from their unaffected siblings and age-matched controls. *J Proteome Res.* 2010;9(6):2996–3004. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/pr901188e. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 114. Mussap M, Noto A, Fanos V. Metabolomics of autism spectrum disorders: early insights regarding mammalian-microbial cometabolites. *Expert Rev Mol Diagn*. 2016;16(8):869–881. https://doi.org/10.1080/14737159.2016.1202765. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Kaluzna-Czaplinska J. Noninvasive urinary organic acids test to assess biochemical and nutritional individuality in autistic children. *Clin Biochem.* 2011;44(8–9): 686–691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2011.01.015. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Emond P, Mavel S, Aidoud N, et al. GC-MS-based urine metabolic profiling of autism spectrum disorders. *Anal Bioanal Chem.* 2013;405(15):5291–5300. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00216-013-6934-x. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 117. De Angelis M, Piccolo M, Vannini L, et al. Fecal microbiota and metabolome of children with autism and pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified. *PLoS One.* 2013;8(10): e76993. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0076993. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 118. Brittis PA, Silver J, Walsh FS, Doherty P. Fibroblast growth factor receptor function is required for the orderly projection of ganglion cell axons in the developing mammalian retina. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* 1996;8(2–3):120–128. https://doi.org/10.1006/ mcne.1996.0051. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 119. Kang DW, Ilhan ZE, Isern NG, et al. Differences in fecal microbial metabolites and microbiota of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Anaerobe*. 2018;49:121–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2017.12.007. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Colledge M, Snyder EM, Crozier RA, et al. Ubiquitination regulates PSD-95 degradation and AMPA receptor surface expression. *Neuron*. 2003;40(3):595–607. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00687-1. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 121. Saldate JJ, Shiau J, Cazares VA, Stuenkel EL. The ubiquitin-proteasome system functionally links neuronal Tomosyn-1 to dendritic morphology. J Biol Chem. 2018;293(7):2232–2246. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M117.815514. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 122. Yi JJ, Paranjape SR, Walker MP, et al. The autism-linked UBE3A T485A mutant E3 ubiquitin ligase activates the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway by inhibiting the proteasome. *J Biol Chem.* 2017;292(30):12503–12515. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M117.788448. [published Online First: Epub Date].

- 123. Glessner JT, Wang K, Cai G, et al. Autism genome-wide copy number variation reveals ubiquitin and neuronal genes. *Nature*. 2009;459(7246):569–573. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature07953. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 124. Eshraghi AA, Liu G, Kay SS, et al. Epigenetics and autism spectrum disorder: is there a correlation? *Front Cell Neurosci.* 2018;12:78. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2018. 00078. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 125. Duffney LJ, Valdez P, Tremblay MW, et al. Epigenetics and autism spectrum disorder: a report of an autism case with mutation in H1 linker histone HIST1H1E and literature review. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet*. 2018;177(4):426–433. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ajmg.b.32631. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 126. Ladd-Acosta C, Hansen KD, Briem E, Fallin MD, Kaufmann WE, Feinberg AP. Common DNA methylation alterations in multiple brain regions in autism. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2014;19(8):862–871. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2013.114. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 127. Ellis SE, Gupta S, Moes A, West AB, Arking DE. Exaggerated CpH methylation in the autism-affected brain. *Mol Autism*. 2017;8:6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-017-0119-y. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Gong L, Yan Y, Xie J, Liu H, Sun X. Prediction of autism susceptibility genes based on association rules. J Neurosci Res. 2012;90(6):1119–1125. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jnr.23015. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 129. Jiao Y, Chen R, Ke X, et al. Single nucleotide polymorphisms predict symptom severity of autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. 2012;42(6):971–983. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10803-011-1327-5. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Oh DH, Kim IB, Kim SH, Ahn DH. Predicting autism spectrum disorder using blood-based gene expression signatures and machine learning. *Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci.* 2017;15(1):47–52. https://doi.org/10.9758/cpn.2017.15.1.47. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Xiong HY, Alipanahi B, Lee LJ, et al. RNA splicing. The human splicing code reveals new insights into the genetic determinants of disease. *Science*. 2015;347(6218):1254806. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1254806. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 132. Zhou J, Park CY, Theesfeld CL, et al. Whole-genome deep-learning analysis identifies contribution of noncoding mutations to autism risk. *Nat Genet*. 2019;51(6):973–980. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-019-0420-0. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Hennessey T, Andari E, Rainnie DG. RDoC-based categorization of amygdala functions and its implications in autism. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2018;90:115–129. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.04.007. [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 134. Eissa N, Al-Houqani M, Sadeq A, Ojha SK, Sasse A, Sadek B. Current enlightenment about etiology and pharmacological treatment of autism spectrum disorder. *Front Neurosci.* 2018;12:304. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00304. [published Online First: Epub Date].